RECEIVED

09-30-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS **CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS** DISTRICT I Appeal No. 2019AP001244 CR OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GERALD D. TAYLOR,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF A DENIAL OF A MOTION FOR SENTENCE MODIFICATION, ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT ON JUNE 20, 2019, HON. JOSEPH R. WALL PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Gregory W. Wiercioch State Bar No. 1091075 Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

John P. Smith Law Student

Frank J. Remington Center University of Wisconsin Law School 975 Bascom Mall Madison, Wisconsin 53706 (608) 263-1388

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Is Mr. Taylor's motion for sentence modification, based on the new factor that he is subject to presumptive mandatory release (PMR) after serving two-thirds of his sentence, rather than mandatory release (MR)—as his sentencing judge believed—ripe for judicial determination before he reaches his PMR date? The circuit court denied Mr. Taylor's motion, concluding it is premature, because he has not yet reached his PMR date, and he may be paroled on or before that date.

2. Is Mr. Taylor's PMR status a new factor that justifies modifying Mr. Taylor's sentence from 60 years to 40 years, to conform to the sentencing court's stated intent to impose a sentence with a maximum of 40 years in prison?

The circuit court found that, even if Mr. Taylor's motion were ripe, his PMR status does not justify modifying his sentence.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Mr. Taylor seeks oral argument so that he may address any questions the Court may have. He asks for publication because no precedent has addressed these issues.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 30, 1999, Mr. Taylor pled no contest to two counts of first degree sexual assault of a child. 18 (App. A). He faced a maximum sentence of 80 years in prison (40 years on each count). 117:21 (App. B). In exchange for his no-contest pleas to both counts, the State recommended 15 years in prison on the first count and 25 years in prison, imposed and stayed, with 12 years of probation, on the second count, to run consecutively to the first count. Id. at 22–23. However, John J. DiMotto Judge rejected the State's recommendation November and. on 12.1999. sentenced Mr. Taylor to 30 years for each count, to be served consecutively. *Id.* at 103–04.

On February 28, 2019, Mr. Taylor filed a Motion for Sentence Modification and Amended Judgment of Conviction. He argued that Judge DiMotto and the parties were unaware that Mr. Taylor was subject to PMR after serving two-thirds of his sentence, rather than MR. 104.

On June 20, 2019, the circuit court denied Mr. Taylor's motion. 112 (App. C).¹ The court ruled that Mr. Taylor's motion is premature because he has not yet reached his PMR date, and he may be granted parole on or before his PMR date. *Id.* at 3. The court acknowledged that Judge DiMotto was not aware of Mr. Taylor's PMR status but concluded that his PMR status does not justify modifying his sentence. *Id.* at 2-3.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Judge DiMotto could have sentenced Mr. Taylor to 80 years in prison. However, he concluded that Mr. Taylor did not deserve the maximum sentence, based on his "total character." 117:105.

Before announcing Mr. Taylor's sentence, Judge DiMotto explained, "[J]udges when they impose sentence now, they take into account how parole works." *Id.* at 101. He then stated that Mr. Taylor would have to serve at least one-quarter of his sentence and that he could serve up to a maximum of

¹ Judge DiMotto had retired by the time Mr. Taylor filed his motion for sentence modification. Judge Joseph R. Wall ruled on the motion.

two-thirds of his sentence before he would reach his "mandatory release date." *Id.* Judge DiMotto reiterated his belief that "in essence, a sentence is somewhere between one-quarter and two thirds of the judge's proclamation." *Id.*

After sentencing Mr. Taylor to a total of 60 years on the two counts, Judge DiMotto explained, "[Y]ou're going to end up serving a minimum of fifteen years, and you could serve up to a maximum of forty years. So in essence this is a fifteen to forty-year sentence." 117:104.

Due to the nature of his offenses, Mr. Taylor does not have a mandatory release date to parole once he has served two-thirds of his sentence. Wis. Stat. § 302.11(1g)(am).² Instead, he has only a presumptive mandatory release date after serving two-thirds of his sentence. Wis. Stat. § 302.11(1g)(am).

Generally, a person sentenced for an offense committed before Truth-In-Sentencing (TIS) was implemented on December 31, 1999, becomes eligible for parole after the person has served one-quarter of the sentence. Wis. Stat. § 304.06(1)(b). Such a person is entitled to mandatory release on parole after serving two-thirds of the sentence. Wis. Stat. § 302.11(1).

However, 1993 Wisconsin Act 194, which became effective on April 21, 1994, created parole eligibility exceptions for anyone convicted of a "serious felony." Under Wis. Stat. § 302.11(1g)(am), a person convicted of a "serious felony" committed on or after April 21, 1994, but before December 31, 1999, has a

 $^{^2}$ All references to the Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2017-18 version unless otherwise noted.

PMR date—not an MR date—at two-thirds of the sentence. While those with MR dates must be paroled on or before they reach their MR dates, the Parole Commission can deny parole to those who have reached their PMR dates. Wis. Stat. § 302.11(1g)(b). Ultimately, a person with a PMR date may serve the entire sentence in prison.

In addition to giving the Parole Commission discretion to hold a person convicted of a "serious felony" in prison beyond the PMR date, 1993 Wisconsin Act 194 gave sentencing courts discretion to set the initial parole eligibility date for a person convicted of a "serious felony." Wis. Stat. § 973.0135(2). When sentencing a person who committed a "serious felony" between April 21, 1994, and December 31, 1999, the court may set the person's initial parole eligibility date any time after onequarter, but not later than two-thirds, of the sentence imposed. Wis. Stat. § 973.0135(2).

Because Mr. Taylor's offenses, violations of Wis. Stat. § 948.02(1), are "serious felonies" under Wis. 302.11(1g)(a)(2), the parole eligibility Stat. Ş exceptions that 1993 Wisconsin Act 194 created apply to him. He is subject to PMR, not MR, at two-thirds of his sentence. Wis. Stat. § 302.11(1g)(am). Rather than being guaranteed release on parole once he serves 40 vears (two-thirds of his 60-year sentence), Mr. Taylor is guaranteed release from prison only after he has served his entire 60-year sentence. Additionally, Mr. Taylor's sentencing court was not required to make him initially eligible for parole after he served onequarter of his total sentence. Wis. Stat. § 973.0135(2). The court could have set his initial parole eligibility

date at any time between one-quarter and two-thirds of his total sentence. Wis. Stat. § 973.0135(2).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Ripeness is a threshold jurisdictional question. *Olson v. Town of Cottage Grove*, 2008 WI 51, ¶ 32, 309 Wis. 2d 365, 749 N.W.2d 211. Therefore, whether an issue is ripe for judicial review is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo*. *Id*. at ¶¶ 37–38.

Whether the facts offered by the defendant constitute a new factor is a question of law that this Court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 33, 333 Wis. 2d 53, 797 N.W.2d 828 (citing *State v. Hegwood*, 113 Wis. 2d 544, 547, 335 N.W.2d 339 (1983)). If a new factor exists, the circuit court exercises its discretion to determine if the new factor justifies sentence modification. *Id*. This Court reviews such decisions for erroneous exercise of discretion. *Id*.

ARGUMENT

I. MR. TAYLOR'S MOTION IS RIPE FOR REVIEW BECAUSE HE IS EXPERIENCING HARDSHIP CAUSED BY WITHHOLDING JUDICIAL CONSIDERATION OF HIS CLAIM FOR SENTENCE MODIFICATION.

A. Mr. Taylor's motion is not based on hypothetical or future facts.

"The two fundamental considerations in a ripeness analysis are 'the fitness of the issues for judicial decision and the hardship to the parties of withholding court consideration." State v. Thiel, 2012 WI App 48, ¶ 7, 340 Wis. 2d 654, 813 N.W.2d 709 (quoting Abbott Labs. v. Gardner, 387 U.S. 136, 148-49 (1967), abrogated on other grounds by Califano v. Sanders, 430 U.S. 99 (1977)). Additionally, a claim is not ripe for adjudication when it is based on hypothetical or future facts. See State v. Armstead, 220 Wis. 2d 626, 631, 583 N.W.2d 444 (Ct. App. 1998) (finding that the defendant's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, cruel and unusual punishment, and equal protection violation were not ripe for review because the defendant had not yet been tried and convicted).

Unlike the defendant's claims in *Armstead*, Mr. Taylor's motion is not based on hypothetical or future facts. Mr. Taylor's motion is based on his PMR status, which extends his mandatory release date by 20 more years than Judge DiMotto intended. While Armstead's claims depended upon a hypothetical and future fact that she would be convicted of the offense for which she had not yet been tried—Mr. Taylor's motion rests on his PMR status, which is not a hypothetical or future fact. It is a status to which he was subjected by statute in 1999. While it is possible that he may be paroled before his MR date, the additional 20 years in prison he currently faces because of his PMR status are very real.

B. This Court should analyze ripeness through the lens of the 40-year maximum sentence that Judge DiMotto intended to impose.

Judge DiMotto intended to impose a sentence with a mandatory release at 40 years, but because of Mr. Taylor's PMR status, his actual mandatory release comes only after he has served his entire 60-year sentence. Based on Judge DiMotto's intent that he serve a maximum of 40 years, Mr. Taylor would reach PMR after serving 26 years and 8 months in prison (two-thirds of 40 years). Because Mr. Taylor had 138 days of jail credit when he was sentenced on November 12, 1999, his sentence began on June 24, 1999. 18. Therefore, his PMR date based on Judge DiMotto's intended sentence is February 24, 2026, more than 13 years sooner than his current PMR date of June 24, 2039.

If this Court withholds consideration of Mr. Taylor's motion until he reaches his current PMR date (upon serving 40 years), then he will have lost any benefit accruing to him under his intended PMR date. Ripeness will turn to mootness. Should the circuit court determine at that time that Mr. Taylor's overlooked PMR status constitutes a new factor justifying sentence modification, the damage will have long ago been done, and he will be without a remedy. Mr. Taylor would have served more than 13 years past his PMR date based on the 40-year maximum sentence Judge DiMotto intended. Extending the upper range of Mr. Taylor's sentencing range to a never-intended 60 years is causing Mr. Taylor hardships now, because neither the Parole Commission nor the Department of Corrections (DOC) is aware that he is quickly approaching his intended PMR date. These hardships weigh in favor of deciding the motion now so that the DOC and the Parole Commission can base their decisions on Mr. Taylor's intended PMR and MR dates, and Mr. Taylor is not left without a remedy.

C. Mr. Taylor's PMR status exposes him to 20 more years in prison than Judge DiMotto intended and is creating hardships for him now.

The circuit court concluded that Mr. Taylor's motion was premature because he may be paroled on or before his PMR date. 112:3. However, Mr. Taylor is experiencing hardship from his PMR status now, even before he reaches his intended PMR date. His 40-year PMR reduces his chances of participating in DOC treatment programs, being approved for a lowersecurity classification, and getting paroled, than if his PMR were only 26 years and 8 months, as Judge DiMotto intended.

The DOC considers "length of the sentence being served" and "time remaining to serve" when making classification decisions. Wis. Admin. Code DOC § 302.11(2), (3). Therefore, the longer the possible prison sentence, the more difficult it is for a person to achieve a lower security classification. Custody at a lower security classification is both a benefit itself—it provides an incarcerated person greater freedom—and a factor that the Parole Commission considers when it determines parole eligibility. Notice of Parole Consideration (App. D). In addition, the DOC may consider sentence length and time remaining to serve when it assigns persons to treatment programs. Wis. Admin. Code DOC § 302.13(2)(a). Like security classification, program participation is a benefit itself and another factor the Parole Commission reviews when it determines parole eligibility. App. D.

The possibility that Mr. Taylor may spend up to 60 years in prison, a result of his 40-year PMR status, is making it more difficult for him to reach a lower security classification, gain access to needed treatment programs, and achieve release on parole. For example, in his most recent Inmate Classification Report, the Program Review Committee declined to recommend Mr. Taylor for minimum security, despite his "appropriate" institutional adjustment, because of structure." his "lengthy sentence "unmet programming need," and "significant amount of time remaining to serve." Inmate Classification Report (App. E) at 5.

Mr. Taylor's inability to achieve a minimumsecurity classification makes it unlikely that he will be paroled, because the Parole Commission bases its decision in part on the person's security classification. App. D. In its report on Mr. Taylor's most recent parole hearing, held on October, 18, 2018, the Parole Commission commented, "Your institution conduct has been satisfactory, noting just 4 CR's [Conduct Reports] since reception, with 1 Minor CR within the past year (01/2018), and your last Major CR occurring

Filed 09-30-2019

in 10/2007." Parole Commission Action Report (App. F) at 1. Nevertheless, the Commission was clear that, despite Mr. Taylor's "satisfactory" institutional adjustment, it is not willing to consider granting him parole until he has reached minimum-security, noting that "eventual transition through reduced security" would help reduce his risk to a level where he might be paroled. *Id.* at 2.

Two reasons the Parole Commission cited in its most recent decision to deny Mr. Taylor parole were that he "ha[s] NOT served sufficient time for punishment" and his "program participation has NOT been satisfactory." Id. at 1 (emphases in original). If the maximum prison sentence Mr. Taylor faced were 40 years, then "sufficient time for punishment" would be well less than it is under his current 60-year maximum sentence, and he would have a greater chance of being paroled sooner. Mr. Taylor already has served more than 20 years of the 26 years and 8 months that constitute his PMR on Judge DiMotto's intended maximum sentence. Additionally, because the DOC considers time remaining to serve and sentence length when it assigns limited space in treatment programs, the DOC is less likely to place Mr. Taylor into required treatment programs in the foreseeable future while he continues to serve a 60year maximum sentence.

II. MR. TAYLOR'S PMR STATUS IS A NEW FACTOR THAT JUSTIFIES SENTENCE MODIFICATION.

A. The Controlling Law

Wisconsin circuit courts have the inherent authority to modify criminal sentences based on a new factor. *Hegwood*, 113 Wis. 2d at 546. A "new factor" is "a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because, even though it was then in existence, it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." *Rosado v. State*, 70 Wis. 2d 280, 288, 234 N.W.2d 69 (1975).

To determine if a fact was a relevant factor at sentencing, courts consider whether the sentencing court "expressly relie[d]" on it. *State v. Franklin*, 148 Wis. 2d 1, 15, 434 N.W.2d 609 (1989) (finding that, "[b]ecause it was not expressly considered by the court in sentencing, parole policy was not relevant to the imposition of this sentence").

In *Harbor*, the Wisconsin Supreme Court clarified that a new factor does not have to "frustrate the purpose of the original sentence." 2011 WI 28, ¶ 49. The Wisconsin Supreme Court noted, however, that, "[c]ertainly, a fact that frustrates the purpose of the original sentence likely satisfies the *Rosado* test, provided that the fact was also unknown to the circuit court at the time of sentencing." *Id.* A fact that frustrates the purpose of the original sentence, *Harbor* explained, "would generally be a new fact that is 'highly relevant to the imposition of sentence." *Id.* (quoting *Rosado*, 70 Wis. 2d at 288).

Courts follow a two-step process to determine whether to modify a sentence based on a new factor. First, the defendant must demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence the existence of a new factor. *Franklin*, 148 Wis. 2d at 8–9. Second, if the defendant has shown the existence of a new factor, the circuit court must exercise its discretion to determine whether the new factor justifies sentence modification. *Id.* at 8.

B. Mr. Taylor's PMR status is a new factor, because Judge DiMotto was unaware of it when he expressly determined the maximum length of the sentence based on his understanding that Mr. Taylor was subject to MR.

Mr. Taylor's PMR status is highly relevant to the imposition of his sentence, because Judge DiMotto intended the maximum length of the sentence to be two-thirds of the 60-year sentence he imposed. At sentencing, Judge DiMotto focused on two specific aspects of the parole law—the initial parole eligibility date and the MR date:

> [J]udges when they impose sentence now, they take into account how parole works. I know everyone in the criminal justice system knows whatever sentence I impose, you will have to serve one-quarter of that sentence and then you will be eligible for parole, and you could serve up to two

thirds of the time imposed. That's when you would reach your mandatory release date.

So in essence, a sentence is somewhere between one-quarter and two-thirds of the judge's proclamation.

117:101. Judge DiMotto used these two fractions of the total length of the sentence to determine the actual upper and lower range of Mr. Taylor's sentence. Therefore, both Mr. Taylor's initial parole eligibility date and his MR date—the maximum amount of time he could spend in prison—are "highly relevant" to his sentence. Because 1993 Wisconsin Act 194 established that Mr. Taylor is subject to PMR not MR, and the Parole Commission does not have to release him at his PMR date, his PMR status moves his mandatory release from two-thirds of his sentence to the end of his entire sentence.

During sentencing, Judge DiMotto recognized that the sentence he imposed had to be "the minimum amount of time necessary to obtain the goals of rehabilitation, protection, and punishment." 117:97. He concluded that a prison term between 15 and 40 years met this requirement. Id. at 104. Based on his understanding of how parole law worked, Judge DiMotto imposed a 60-year sentence to craft this sentencing range. Id. However, Mr. Taylor's PMR status means that he could remain in prison 20 years longer than Judge DiMotto ever intended. That fact is "highly relevant" to Mr. Taylor's sentence. See State v. Borrell, 167 Wis. 2d 749, 767, 482 N.W.2d 883 (1992) (recognizing that the parole eligibility determination is an "essential and integral part" of the court's sentencing decision).

In denying Mr. Taylor's motion for sentence modification, the circuit court conceded that Mr. Taylor's PMR status was unknown to Judge DiMotto. 112:2. But the circuit court held that Judge DiMotto would not have "lessened his sentences" even if he had known Mr. Taylor could remain in prison beyond his MR date. *Id.* at 2–3. The circuit court explained that "[t]he PMR law may have been relevant to [Judge DiMotto] for purposes of explaining to the defendant what he was facing, but it is not likely to have altered his sentences based on the nature of the offenses, which the court found to be 'horrific." *Id.* at 3 (footnote omitted).

The record does not support the circuit court's explanation. If Judge DiMotto believed that the upper range of Mr. Taylor's sentence should have been greater, then he could have sentenced him to 80 years in prison, under the impression that Mr. Taylor would be subject to MR only after serving a maximum of 53 years (two-thirds of 80 years). Yet, Judge DiMotto explicitly stated that Mr. Taylor did not deserve the maximum punishment. 117:105. Instead, Judge DiMotto used his understanding of "how parole works," *id.* at 101, to create the sentencing range—the minimum fixed by the initial parole eligibility date and the maximum fixed by the MR date. Therefore, Mr. Taylor's PMR status—which increased his maximum possible sentence by 20 years—was "highly relevant to the imposition of sentence." Rosado, 70 Wis. 2d at 288.

Mr. Taylor's new factor—his PMR status—is analogous to the change in parole law that the Wisconsin Supreme Court affirmed as a new factor justifying sentence modification in *Kutchera v. State*, 69 Wis. 2d 534, 552, 230 N.W.2d 750 (1975). In Kutchera. the defendant moved for sentence modification based on the new factor that his parole eligibility had changed since he was sentenced. Id. at 552. He argued that, when the circuit court imposed his sentences, he was eligible for "instant parole." Id. Subsequently, however, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held that each sentence had a minimum parole eligibility of one year. Id. Kutchera upheld the circuit court's modification of the sentence, finding that the change in parole law was a new factor, because parole eligibility was discussed at sentencing, and the new factor justified modifying the sentence. Id. at 553.

Like Kutchera's parole eligibility, Mr. Taylor's PMR status resulted from a change in parole law.³ Moreover, just as the circuit court in *Kutchera* used the defendant's parole eligibility to determine its sentence, Judge DiMotto expressly relied on the length of time Mr. Taylor had to serve before his mandatory release to parole to establish the upper limit of his sentence.

Even though 1993 Wisconsin Act 194 had taken effect more than five years before Mr. Taylor was sentenced, his PMR status was not known to Judge DiMotto at sentencing, because it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties. At no point during sentencing did any of the parties voice the understanding that Mr. Taylor could serve more than

³ In its sentence modification ruling, the circuit court referred to Mr. Taylor's PMR status as resulting from a "new parole policy." 112:2. Mr. Taylor's PMR status resulted from a change in the parole statute, the passage of 1993 Wisconsin Act 194. This Act was not "new." It took effect over five years before Mr. Taylor's sentencing. This Act was not a "policy." It was a statutory change with the force of law.

40 years in prison.⁴ Indeed, Judge DiMotto four times asserted his understanding that the sentence he imposed for Mr. Taylor had a mandatory release date at 40 years. 117:101, 102.

Finally, Mr. Taylor's PMR status is a new factor because it frustrates the purpose of his original sentence—that he serve at least 15, but not more than 40, years in prison. *Id.* at 104. While a new factor does not have to "frustrate the purpose of the original sentence," a fact that does so likely is a new factor if it was "unknown to the circuit court at the time of the sentencing." *Harbor*, 2011 WI 28, ¶ 49. Because Mr. Taylor's PMR status was unknown to Judge DiMotto and frustrates the purpose of his sentence, it is a new factor.

C. By refusing to modify Mr. Taylor's sentence to reflect Judge DiMotto's stated intent, the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion.

While the circuit court ultimately denied Mr. Taylor's motion on ripeness grounds, the court erroneously exercised its discretion when it concluded, in the alternative, that Mr. Taylor's PMR status does not justify modifying his sentence. 112:2–3. A court "erroneously exercises its discretion when it applies the wrong legal standard or makes a decision not reasonably supported by the facts of record." *State v. Avery*, 2013 WI 13, ¶ 23, 345 Wis. 2d 407, 826 N.W.2d

⁴ Judge DiMotto thought that the only way Mr. Taylor could be held for more than 40 years was if he were found to be a sexually violent person under Wis. Stat. Ch. 980. 117:102. But Judge DiMotto understood that, if Mr. Taylor were committed under Chapter 980, such a commitment would not be a prison sentence. *Id*.

Filed 09-30-2019

60 (citations omitted). The purpose of sentence modification is to correct unjust sentences. *Franklin*, 148 Wis. 2d 1 at 9 (citing *Hayes v. State*, 46 Wis. 2d 93, 105, 175 N.W.2d 625 (1970)). Mr. Taylor's PMR status, which gives the Parole Commission discretion to keep him in prison 20 years longer than Judge DiMotto intended, is a new factor that justifies modifying the sentence to 40 years. The circuit court's decision to the contrary ignores well-established sentencing law and is "not reasonably supported by the facts of record." *Avery*, 2013 WI 13, ¶ 23.

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