RECEIVED

12-13-2019 STATE OF WISCONSIN

$C\ O\ U\ R\ T$ $O\ F$ $A\ P\ P\ E\ A\ L$ §LERK OF COURT OF APPEALS **OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2019AP1244-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

GERALD D. TAYLOR,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL OF AN ORDER DENYING A MOTION FOR SENTENCE MODIFICATION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JOSEPH R. WALL, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF THE PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

LISA E.F. KUMFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1099788

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

The circuit court appropriately exercised its discretion in denying Taylor's motion for sentence modification.

A. General principles of sentence modification

After the time for a direct appeal has passed, a defendant's ability to attack a conviction or sentence is limited. A claim that a new factor warranting sentence modification exists invokes the inherent, though limited, authority of the circuit court to modify a sentence, and can be made at any time. *See State v. Noll*, 2002 WI App 273, ¶¶ 11–12, 258 Wis. 2d 573, 653 N.W.2d 895.

Filed 12-13-2019

A new factor is "a fact or set of facts highly relevant to the imposition of sentence, but not known to the trial judge at the time of original sentencing, either because it was not then in existence or because . . . it was unknowingly overlooked by all of the parties." Harbor, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 40 (citation omitted).

To obtain sentence modification based on a proffered "new factor," a convicted defendant must show by clear and convincing evidence (1) that a new factor exists, and (2) that the new factor warrants sentence modification. *Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶¶ 36–38.

As with other conjunctive tests, a trial court may end its inquiry without addressing both requirements, if it concludes that one or the other requirement has not been met. *See Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 38.

B. Taylor's having a presumptive mandatory release date is not a new factor because ensuring Taylor is released early was not highly relevant to Taylor's sentence.

The circuit court correctly determined that Taylor's having a presumptive mandatory release date rather than an actual mandatory release date is not a new factor. (R. 112:2.) This is so because ensuring Taylor is released before serving all of his sentence was not at all relevant to the circuit court's imposition of Taylor's sentence.

The court's primary focus was on the horrific nature of Taylor's offenses, and what that meant for both punishment and protection of the community. (R. 118:88, 98–102.) It emphasized that not only had Taylor committed "crimes of sexual violence towards a twelve-year-old child," but he had threatened to kill her. (R. 118:86.) The court described Taylor's acts and the victim's "being forced to submit" as "an act of terrorism for that child." (R. 118:87.) Moreover, Taylor was the victim's neighbor and before the offense his home was

Case 2019AP001244 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-13-2019 Page 11 of 17

somewhere the victim and her mother thought she would be safe. (R. 118:16, 87.) The court noted that because of Taylor, the victim "now is isolated. She has difficulty relating well to her peers. She is anxious. She suffers from sleep problems. . . . She's been described as withdrawn, unhappy . . . no longer the strong person she was" before Taylor assaulted her. (R. 118:89.)

The court recognized that Taylor's personal history reflected someone who wanted to better himself, and that he had been a good father to his own children. (R. 118:91–92.) It also recognized that Taylor was "truly remorseful" and took responsibility for what he did. (R. 118:92.) There did not appear to be any explanation, however, for how Taylor could commit such terrible crimes. (R. 118:93–95.) The court stated that society had an interest in Taylor's rehabilitation, but it also had a "need to be protected from you now over the short [haul] and more permanently over the long [haul]." (R. 118:99.)

The court said, "the third component of society's interest is punishment.... The punishment must fit the crime and the person who committed the crime" (R. 118:99.) "What was scary here . . . is that you had no history of this behavior before [the assault]." (R. 118:99–100.) The court told Taylor that "punishment is near the forefront of the sentences I'm going to impose. I need you to know that." (R. 118:100.)

The sentencing court did make several comments about Taylor's parole eligibility, but the transcript shows that those comments were directed toward explaining why the court believed it needed to sentence Taylor to at least a particular minimum term of years. (R. 118:102–05.) The court informed Taylor that beginning at the end of that year, truth in sentencing would take effect, and explained what that meant. (R. 118:102–03.) It then explained the pre-TIS parole system, stating, "everyone in the criminal justice system knows whatever sentence I impose, you will have to serve one-

Case 2019AP001244 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-13-2019 Page 12 of 17

quarter of that sentence and then you will be eligible for parole, and you could serve up to two-thirds of the time imposed. That's when you would reach your mandatory release date." (R. 118:103.)

The court then told Taylor that, despite this mandatory release parole system, he might not ever be released. (R. 118:103–04.) The court observed that "[s]everal things could happen" with Taylor's indeterminate sentence. (R. 118:103.) First, "[m]aybe you could be released on your mandatory release date, which might be two-thirds of your sentence." (R. 118:103–04.) The court said "maybe' because given the nature of these offenses, when you finally do reach your parole date," the State could seek to have him committed as a sexually violent offender under Chapter 980, "where you can be placed in a prison-like hospital where you can remain potentially for the rest of your life." (R. 118:104.)

The court observed that, therefore, "the sentence I impose here will have a minimum component to it when you reach discretionary parole, and it will have a mandatory release date . . . but neither the discretionary nor the mandatory really mean anything if you are determined to be a sexual predator." (R. 118:104.) The court noted that because of Chapter 980, "[t]he sentence I will impose could ultimately be a life sentence" (R. 118:104.)

The court said that the purpose of its sentence was "to hold [Taylor] accountable for [his] crimes of sexual violence, intimidation, exploitation, and terror." (R. 118:105.) It said it "believe[d] there is a need for [Taylor] to do at leas[t] a minimum number, a finite amount of time, after which the department can determine when you're are truly parole eligible, if you're ever parole eligible." (R. 118:105.)

Indeed, contrary to what Taylor believes, the court's comments at sentencing make clear that it was not concerned with whether Taylor would ever be released from prison.

Case 2019AP001244 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-13-2019 Page 13 of 17

(Taylor's Br. 13; R. 118:105.) To the extent the court gave parole any consideration, it was only to ensure that it imposed a long enough sentence that Taylor would have to spend a significant amount of time behind bars before reaching any parole date. (R. 118:105.) Otherwise, the court made clear that it was unconcerned with when and whether Taylor would ever be appropriate for release into the community, and left that to the Department of Corrections. (R. 118:104–05.)

Moreover, Taylor fails to recognize that even inmates who received a "mandatory" release date under former Wis. Stat. § 302.11 could be required to serve the entirety of their sentence in prison. See Wis. Stat. § 302.11(2), (4). Taylor's claim that neither the court nor any of the parties understood "that Mr. Taylor could serve more than 40 years in prison," (Taylor's Br. 16–17), simply cannot be true—mandatory release on parole on a particular date was always conditioned on good behavior in prison with no rule infractions. Wis. Stat. § 302.11(2). It is not possible that neither the court nor any of the parties understood that Taylor's two consecutive thirty-year sentences could result in him spending sixty years in prison. That was always the nature of the parole statutes. And as explained, the court expressly recognized that Taylor may never be released into the community. (R. 118:104.)

Accordingly, the fact that Taylor has a presumptive mandatory release date rather than an actual mandatory release date cannot possibly be highly relevant to the sentence imposed. Taylor points to nothing even suggesting that the court would have imposed a lesser sentence had it known that his parole date was presumptive rather than mandatory. (Taylor's Br. 14.) He simply notes that the sentencing court explained how the parole system worked under the pre-TIS statutes. (Taylor's Br. 13–15.) But he omits any mention of the court's observations that the statutory parole dates could be meaningless given the possibility that Taylor could be committed under Chapter 980, and its focus

Case 2019AP001244 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-13-2019 Page 14 of 17

on wanting to punish Taylor for his criminal acts. (Taylor's Br. 13–16.) Taylor's mandatory release date was simply not relevant to the sentence imposed.

In short, the court's comments about the parole system show that it was concerned only with making sure Taylor spent a minimum amount of time in prison, not with ensuring he was released at the two-thirds mark. This Court should affirm the circuit court.

C. The circuit court adequately explained that Taylor's presumptive mandatory release date did not warrant sentence modification because Taylor may still be released on or before that date.

Wisconsin courts do not issue advisory opinions, nor adjudicate claims involving "hypothetical or future facts." *State v. Armstead*, 220 Wis. 2d 626, 631, 583 N.W.2d 444 (Ct. App. 1998). Whether a controversy is ripe for judicial review is a legal determination appellate courts independently review. *Olson v. Town of Cottage Grove*, 2008 WI 51, ¶ 39, 309 Wis. 2d 365, 749 N.W.2d 211. Here, however, as explained above, the question remains only whether the trial court erroneously exercised its discretion in determining that Taylor's having a presumptive mandatory release date did not warrant modification of his sentence. *See Harbor*, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 37; *supra* n.1.

And even if Taylor's having a presumptive mandatory release date is a new factor as a matter of law, the record shows that the circuit court properly exercised its discretion in determining that that factor does not warrant sentence modification. Harbor, 333 Wis. 2d 53, ¶ 36.

The circuit court determined that Taylor's claim that his sentence should be modified because he is subject to presumptive mandatory release, rather than automatic mandatory release, is premature because it is based on a Case 2019AP001244 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-13-2019 Page 15 of 17

chain of events that has not occurred and may never occur. (R. 112:2–3.) Taylor has not yet served any time beyond his presumptive mandatory release date, which is not until June 24, 2039, and may never do so. (R. 112:3.) As the circuit court correctly observed, "[h]aving PMR status does not preclude the parole commission from releasing a person on a discretionary parole prior to his or her mandatory release date." (R. 112:3.) Accordingly, "[i]t is unknown at this juncture whether he will be paroled before or at his M.R. date or held beyond. Under the circumstances, the court declines to modify the sentence in this case." (R. 112:3.) And, as explained above, the original sentencing court was not concerned with when Taylor would be released other than ensuring that he served a minimum amount of time in prison. (R. 118:104–05.)

The circuit court used a rational process to determine that Taylor's having a presumptive mandatory release date rather than an actual mandatory release date did not warrant sentence modification because the sentencing court was unconcerned with the precise date he may be released on parole, and Taylor may still be released on or before his PMR. (R. 112:2–3.) The record supports the circuit court's rationale, and Taylor has not shown that the circuit court used an "unreasonable" or "unjustifi[able]" basis for its decision. Setagord, 211 Wis. 2d at 418. He is due no relief.

CONCLUSION

This Court should affirm the circuit court's decision denying Taylor's motion for sentence modification.